1998

# Heidi Peterson on behalf of Markelle Frei-Peterson v. Utah Department of Health, Division of Health Care Financing : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### **JURISDICTION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS**

This is a petition for review of a final agency order issued by the Director of the Division of Health Care Financing, Utah Department of Health, on January 15, 1998. The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Annot. § 78-2a-3(2)(a).

### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE**

Whether treatment of short bowel syndrome through use of a growth hormone is experimental and, therefore, not covered by Medicaid.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The final agency order may be reversed, if Petitioner Markelle Frei-Peterson (hereinafter "Markelle") was substantially prejudiced by a determination of fact, made or implied by respondent Division of Health Care Financing (hereinafter "DHCF") that is not supported by substantial evidence when viewed in light of the whole record before the court. Utah Code Annot. § 63-46b-16(4)(g); King v. Industrial Comm'n, 850 P.2d 1281, 1285 (Utah App. 1993). Substantial evidence is defined as "that which a reasonable person might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." When reviewing the substantiality of the evidence, the reviewing court must consider both the evidence supporting the agency's findings and the evidence negating these findings. First National Bank of Boston v. County Bd. Of Equalization, 799 P.2d 1163, 1165 (Utah 1990).

The final agency order may also be overturned, if Peterson was substantially prejudiced by DHCF's erroneous interpretation or application of the law. Utah Code Annot. § 63-46b-16(4)(d). The correction of error standard applies to agency decisions involving the interpretation or application of general law and no deference is extended to such agency rulings. Zissi v. Tax Comm'n., 842 P.2d 848, 852-53 & n. 2 (Utah 1992); Savage Indus., v. Tax Comm'n., 811 P.2d 664, 669 (Utah 1991).

**DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES,  
ORDINANCES AND RULES**

1. 42 U.S.C. § 1396d(a)(4)(B);
2. 42 U.S.C. § 1396d(r)(5);
3. Utah Administrative Code R414-1A-200 & 300;
4. Utah Administrative Code R414-13x-1.(5)(a).

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**A. Nature of the Case**

This is a petition for review of a final agency action by the Department of Health, Division of Health Care Financing, denying Medicaid coverage for a growth hormone to treat short bowel syndrome.

**B. Course of the Proceedings**

Peterson applied for Medicaid coverage of a growth hormone for treatment of her short bowel syndrome. When coverage was denied, an administrative hearing was requested and held December 8, 1997. The hearing was held pursuant to Rule R410-14 of the Utah Department of Health and the Utah Administrative Hearings

Act, Title 63, Chapter 46b, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended. Record, at 111 (hereinafter "R"). On January 7, 1998, Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Margaret Clark issued a recommended decision, recommending that DHCF's denial of coverage be upheld. ALJ Clark concluded use of the growth hormone to treat short bowel syndrome was experimental as defined in Utah Administrative Code R414-1A-200 and, therefore, not covered by Medicaid. On January 15, 1998, DHCF Director Michael Deily adopted the recommended decision in its entirety. This petition for review followed.

C. Disposition At The Agency

The agency issued a final agency action denying coverage of a growth hormone to treat Peterson's condition.

D. Relevant Facts With Citations to The Record

Markelle Frei-Peterson is a 24-month old child who suffers from short bowel syndrome. R-126-9. She is dependent on total parenteral nutrition support (TPN), a form of intravenous feeding, for ninety percent of her nutritional needs. R-126-9, 10. TPN is covered by Medicaid. R-126-12. Markelle's treating physician is Dr. William Daniel Jackson, M.D. who is board-certified in pediatrics, pediatric gastroenterology and nutrition. R-126-9. Dr. Jackson is employed as an assistant professor of pediatrics at the University of Utah School of Medicine. R-126-9. He is the Medical Director of Nutrition Support Services at Primary Children's Medical Center. R-126-10.

Dr. Jackson wants to get Markelle off TPN so that her

gastrointestinal tract can adapt and accommodate enteral nutrition. R-126-11. He is also concerned about central line catheter infections and loss of I.V. access sites. R-126-11. His most serious concern is that Markelle will develop progressive liver dysfunction. R-126-11. Dr. Jackson testified that patients with short bowel syndrome who are parenterally nutrition dependent "have a high risk of progressing to liver failure and require liver transplantation." R-126-12, 24. The doctor mentioned another patient with a condition similar to Markelle's who "ended up getting a liver and small bowel transplant." R-126-24. Others, he noted, had gotten liver transplants, while others not eligible for a transplant, simply died. R-126-24-25. Liver transplants are covered by Medicaid. R-126-12.

Dr. Jackson has recommended that Markelle's short bowel syndrome be treated by use of a recombinant human growth hormone, called "humatrope". R-126-13-14. He testified the growth hormone stimulates "transcription of certain regulatory genes that turn on growth of the lining of the intestine." R-126-15. The growth hormone is used, "in the lines of a pharmacologic agent to actually stimulate the kind of growth factors that would be required to try to make the small bowel develop and grow more." R-126-43.

Markelle had been treated for several months with a growth hormone, financed by Primary Childrens Hospital, and there is circumstantial evidence that it has helped her, since she has

been able to take some nutrition orally. R-126-17-18, 44. Dr. Jackson recommended a further trial up to one year. R-126-19-20. Markelle's mother, Heidi Peterson (erroneously referred to as Markelle's aunt in the hearing transcript) testified that Markelle's nutritional intake had improved since the start of using a growth hormone. R-126-21.

Medicaid covers the use of growth hormones to treat short-statured persons but will not pay for its use to treat short bowel syndrome, which it considers an "off-label use." R-126-13. Dr. Jackson testified there is a higher indication for use of the growth hormone in Markelle's case, since he is seeking approval of a treatment that may save her life. R-126-13. He further testified that the use of a growth hormone over a reasonably short course, "if it worked would be a cost effective approach in terms of the huge magnitude of the cost of lifetime TPN and/or liver transplantation." R-126-14. When asked by the ALJ to address the medical necessity of the proposed treatment, Dr. Jackson testified:

the goal would be to basically prevent premature death, reduce -- or improve quality of life by reducing dependence on total parenteral nutrition, and increasing her chances of becoming independent of that by being able to eat and consume foods normally.

Avoid the future suffering of -- well, future and things that she's already encountered of central line infections, complications of central venous catheters to provide the total parenteral nutrition. Including infection and dislodgment and vascular thrombosis. And finally to prevent chronic liver disease that plagues so many patients that are on chronic TPN, with the possibility of requirement for

a liver transplantation.

R-126-23. Dr. Jackson testified there is no other equally effective course of treatment that would be more conservative or substantially less costly. R-126-24.

The use of growth hormone to treat short bowel syndrome is supported, Dr. Jackson testified, by a number of mainstream practitioners. R-126-15. His urgency in requesting approval of the treatment arose from his concern that without it, Markelle's condition would deteriorate; he also expressed his judgment that in terms of background, training and colleagues consulted, the benefits from the proposed therapy outweighed the risks and costs. R-126-26. Dr. Jackson described the use of growth hormone for treatment of short bowel syndrome as more a matter of medical judgment than an experimental procedure. R-126-35-36.

Dr. Jackson testified that it was common in pediatric practice to use drug therapies that have not been proved or verified. R-126-37. He described this as "a fact of life" since "society has not deemed it necessary to study children in that regard." R-126-37. He concluded:

So what's happened to pediatricians is they have to take those drugs that aren't approved for pediatrics and use them. And there's a very, very long tradition of doing that, both for good and for bad for children.

R-126-38.

The request for approval of the growth hormone was denied by a utilization review committee made up of physicians, nurses and a social worker. T-48. The rationale given for the denial was

that "the documentation indicated it was an experimental procedure." T-49. According to one witness, growth hormone is only allowed under the drug criteria manual for two groups, both of them having to do with growth failure. R-126-63.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

A number of errors were committed by the ALJ in deciding Markelle's case. The ALJ applied the wrong burden of proof and failed to give appropriate weight to the opinions of the treating physician. The conclusion that the growth hormone cannot be approved for Medicaid coverage is based on a definition of "experimental" which is too restrictive under the circumstances. While a Medicaid agency has broad discretion in deciding what treatment it will cover, its discretion is not unlimited. The agency may not apply unreasonable policies in denying medical treatment.

#### **ARGUMENT**

##### **A. Overview and Purposes of the Medicaid Program**

The Medicaid program was established by Congress in 1965 as Title XIX of the Social Security Act, "for purposes of providing federal assistance to States that choose to reimburse certain costs of medical treatment for needy persons." Harris v. McRae, 448 U.S. 297, 301, 100 S.Ct. 2671, 65 L.Ed. 2d 784 (1980). Medicaid is a joint federal-state program designed to meet some of the medical needs of low-income persons. 42 U.S.C. § 1396 (1988); Schweiker v. Hogan, 457 U.S. 569, 571 (1982). States are not required to participate in the Medicaid program; however,

once they choose to do, they must comply with the Medicaid statute and implementing regulations. Schweiker v. Gray Panthers, 453 U.S. 34, 37 (1981). A strong incentive for state participation is federal funding of a substantial portion of all Medicaid costs. In Utah, approximately seventy percent of the Medicaid budget is supplied by the federal participant.

**B. The Agency Erred In Denying Approval of Growth Hormone Treatment As Being Experimental**

Medical Necessity

The Medicaid statute is clear that a participating state must provide medically necessary services. While a state Medicaid agency has discretion in deciding what services it may provide, that discretion is circumscribed by the federal statute which provides, in part:

A State plan for medical assistance must ... include reasonable standards ... for determining eligibility for and the extent of medical assistance under the plan which ... are consistent with the objectives of this [Title]....

42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(17)(1998 Supp.) The Supreme Court has opined that a "serious statutory question might be presented if a state Medicaid plan excluded *necessary medical treatment* from its coverage." Beal v. Doe, 432 U.S. 438, 444, 97 S.Ct. 2366, 53 L.Ed.2d 464 (1977).

Children receive additional protection against unreasonable denial of necessary medical treatment. In order for the Utah Medicaid plan to be approved by the federal government, it must provide certain mandatory medical services. 42 U.S.C. §

1396d(a)(10)(A). Included among the mandatory services are "early and periodic screening, diagnostic and treatment services" (EPSDT services) for persons under age 21. 42 U.S.C. § 1396d(a)(4)(B). EPSDT services include screening, vision, dental and hearing services as well as "[s]uch other necessary ... treatment ... to correct or ameliorate ... conditions discovered by the screening services...." 42 U.S.C. § 1396d(r)(5).

#### Unproven or Experimental Medical Practices

A state Medicaid agency may adopt reasonable standards for determining medical necessity which exclude coverage of experimental treatments. Rush v. Parham, 625 F.2d 1150, 1156 (5th Cir. 1980). Utah has done this through its administrative rules at R414-1A-300 which provide, in part:

- (1) Experimental or unproven medical practices are not covered Medicaid services.
- (2) Division staff and physician consultants shall establish criteria to determine whether a service or procedure is a covered Medicaid service.
- (3) Procedures or services proven to be medically efficacious for specific medical conditions may be provided as covered Medicaid services only for the conditions specified. Such procedures or services are not covered for any other conditions or for experimental trials.

R414-1A-300. The rules define "experimental or unproven medical practice" and "medically efficacious" as follows:

- (a) "experimental or unproven medical practice means any procedure, medication product, or service that is:
  - (i) not proven to be medically efficacious for a given procedure; or

(ii) performed for or in support of purposes of research, experimentation, or testing of new processes or products; or  
(iii) both

(b) "medically efficacious" means a medical practice that:

(i) has been determined effective and is widely utilized as a standard medical practice for specific conditions; and  
(ii) has been approved as a covered Medicaid service by division staff and physician consultants on the basis of medical necessity, as defined in R414-13x-1.(5)(a) and in accordance with R414-26-1.(2)(f)...

R414-1A-200. "Medical necessity" has been defined as follows:

a. A provider must furnish or prescribe medical services to the recipient only when, and to the extent that it is medically necessary. A service is "medically necessary" if it is (1) reasonably calculated to prevent, diagnose, or cure conditions in the recipient that endanger life, cause suffering or pain, cause physical deformity or malfunction, or threaten to cause a handicap; and (2) there is no other equally effective course of treatment available or suitable for the recipient requesting the service which is more conservative or substantially less costly. Medical services shall be of a quality that meets professionally recognized standards of health care, and shall be substantiated by records including evidence of medical necessity and quality.

R414-13x-1.(5)(a).<sup>1</sup>

#### Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law

In her decision affirming the denial of growth hormone, ALJ Clark made the following findings of fact:

#### FINDINGS OF FACT

---

<sup>1</sup>Rule R414-26-1.(2)(f) pertains to DHCF policy development process and is not pertinent to this discussion.

1. Markelle Frei-Peterson is approximately twenty four months old, suffers from short bowel syndrome, and is dependent on parenteral nutrition for approximately 90% of her nutritional needs.

2. In the past three or four months she has begun to tolerate some oral feedings, but remains dependent on parenteral nutrition.

3. Short bowel syndrome requires expensive technology and possibly a lifetime of parenteral nutrition.

4. The goal of Markelle's treating physician is to accelerate her gastrointestinal adaption by administering the growth hormone for one year.

5. Because she has short bowel syndrome, Markelle is at risk of central line catheter infections, eventual loss of intravenous access sites, and progressive liver dysfunction.

6. Markelle has been receiving growth hormone for approximately three months. The hormone has been supplied by a Primary Children's Hospital charity.

7. Usage of growth hormone for short bowel syndrome is considered an "off label" use by the Federal Food and Drug Administration.

8. The data is sufficient to motivate a number of reputable physicians to prescribe growth hormone for short bowel syndrome, but it is still considered to be controversial.

R-112. Based on these findings, the ALJ made one recommended conclusion of law:

The use of growth hormone to treat small bowel syndrome is "experimental" as defined in: Utah Administrative Code R414-1A-200, and is therefore not covered by Utah Medicaid [see R414-1A-300(1)].

R-112. Petitioner does not disagree with the findings of fact entered in the case; however, they do not direct the conclusion

of law, when the correct legal standards are applied.

**C. The ALJ Applied An Incorrect Burden of Proof**

In discussing the reasons for the conclusion of law, the ALJ stated:

As the expert witness for the moving party, the burden of proof was on Dr. Jackson to prove by the preponderance of the evidence that the growth hormone should be covered. Despite his convincing testimony regarding the medical necessity of using the drug for Markelle, he was not able to overcome DHCF's evidence that the use of growth hormone to treat short bowel syndrome is an off-label usage of the drug, and it has not yet been proven to be effective for that usage. Although treatment of short bowel syndrome with growth hormone might be more highly indicated than its usage for children of short stature, the law prohibits the use of experimental treatments, and Dr. Jackson's testimony clearly indicated that the use of growth hormone to treat short bowel syndrome was not "widely utilized as a standard medical practice," and therefore meets the criteria for an "experimental procedure."

R-113-14.

The ALJ's conclusion of law is based on the erroneous assumption that Dr. Jackson had the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the recommended treatment was not experimental. While it is harmless error to say that a witness, rather than the petitioner, had the burden of proof, it is not harmless error to apply the wrong burden of proof. Administrative agency action based on factual findings must be overturned if they are not supported by "substantial evidence." King v. Industrial Comm'n, 850 P.2d at 1285. Substantial evidence has been described as more than a mere "scintilla" of evidence

and something less than the weight of the evidence. Johnson v. Board of Review, 842 P.2d 910, 911 (Utah App. 1992). Substantial evidence is such relevant evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. Grace Drilling Co. V. Board of Review, 776 P.2d 63, 68 (Utah App. 1989). Of particular significance for this case is the rule that "'Evidence is not substantial "if it is overwhelmed by other evidence-- particularly certain types of evidence (e.g., that offered by treating physicians) or if it really constitutes not evidence but mere conclusion."'" Frey v. Bowen, 816 F.2d 508, 512 (10th Cir. 1987) as cited in, A.M.L. v. Department of Health, 863 P.2d 44, 47 (Utah App. 1993).

**D. The ALJ's Decision Is Not Supported By Substantial Evidence**

The ALJ's conclusion ignores the fact that Dr. Jackson is Markelle's treating physician, thereby entitling his opinion to greater weight than that of other medical consultants. A.M.L. v. Department of Health, 863 P.2d at 48. In A.M.L., this court thoroughly reviewed the treating physician rule as it applies in Medicaid cases and opined:

Further we note that several courts require state Medicaid agencies to recognize a presumption `in favor of the medical judgment of the attending physician in determining the medical necessity of treatment.' (Citations omitted).

....

In accordance, if DHCF elects not to give deference to the testimony given by the treating physician, the agency should `provide a reasoned basis for declining to do so which is consistent with the purposes of

the Medicaid Act.' *Worthington*, slip op. at 7; see also *Frey*, 816 F.2d at 513 ('If the opinion of the claimant's physician is to be disregarded, specific, legitimate reasons for this action must be set forth.')

A.M.L. v. Department of Health, 863 P.2d at 48. Other cases holding that the treating physician's opinion is entitled to greater weight include: Montoya v. Johnston, 654 F.Supp. 511, 513 (W.D. Tex. 1987) ("The best indicator for determining the medical appropriateness of treatment rests with a patient's physician.") and Weaver v. Reagen, 886 F.2d 194, 200 (8th Cir. 1989) ("The Medicaid statute and regulatory scheme create a presumption in favor of the medical judgment of the attending physician in determining the medical necessity of treatment.").

It appears from the ALJ's decision that the medical necessity of growth hormone treatment was proven. The decision refers to "convincing testimony regarding the medical necessity of using the drug for Markelle..." R-113. If a treatment is medically necessary, then it should be approved for coverage. However, the ALJ then retreats from this conclusion by saying, "he [Dr. Jackson] was not able to overcome DHCF's evidence that the use of growth hormone to treat short bowel syndrome is an off-label usage of the drug, and it has not yet been proven to be effective for that usage." R-114.

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