1998

# Heidi Peterson on behalf of Markelle Frei-Peterson v. Utah Department of Health, Division of Health Care Financing : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

At issue is the proposed use of a drug, humatrope, a recombinant human growth hormone, to stimulate gastrointestinal function for a child suffering from short bowel syndrome. Under applicable Medicaid rules, the drug is approved for use under circumstances where a person is deficient in the growth hormone. The Appellant Markelle has no growth hormone deficiency. Rather,

her treating physician proposes to use growth hormone in the hope it will stimulate gastrointestinal function. However, the use proposed in the instant case is considered experimental. Under Medicaid law, coverage is not permitted for experimental procedures. This approach is justifiable because the Medicaid program's objectives are not directed toward research. In compliance with federal law, Utah, by its designated agency charged with the efficient and effective administration of the Medicaid program, has established rules addressing Medicaid payment policy for experimental or unproven medical practices and treatments.

The agency has defined an "experimental or unproven medical practice" as one not proven medically efficacious. Medically efficacious practices have been determined effective and widely utilized as a standard practice. These practices are approved as a covered Medicaid service on the basis of medical necessity. Proven effective treatments widely utilized are covered services when medically necessary. The determination of medically necessary is a proper exercise of agency discretion. A medically necessary service must be reasonably calculated to effectively address the patient's situation. This entails a consideration of the treatment for its preventive, diagnostic or curative use for the patient's condition as well as for its effectiveness and suitability.

The Division has essentially defined "necessary treatment" as used in the Medicaid Act to exclude experimental treatments. This is a valid interpretation by the Division fulfilling its role in meeting the objectives of the Act. Absent proven effectiveness for a treatment necessary for the patient's medical condition, the Division reasonably may deny funds.

#### **ARGUMENT**

##### **POINT I:**

**THE MEDICAID PROGRAM, A COOPERATIVE FEDERAL-STATE ENDEAVOR, CREATED TO ASSIST PARTICIPATING STATES BY PROVIDING FEDERAL FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE, PROVIDES MEDICAL ASSISTANCE TO NEEDY INDIVIDUALS WHO ARE ELIGIBLE UNDER THE STATE'S APPROVED PLAN.**

In 1965 Congress established the Medicaid program by enacting Title XIX of the Social Security Act. The program is a cooperative federal-state endeavor by which federal grants are paid to states enabling them to provide medical assistance to persons otherwise unable to pay for necessary medical care. Although Medicaid is entirely optional, once a state elects to participate, the state must comply with all the federal statutory and regulatory requirements. *Harris v. McRae*, 448 U.S. 297, 301, 100 S.Ct. 2671, 2680 (1980). Participating states must have a State plan approved by the Secretary. See 42 U.S.C. § 1396. A single agency must be selected to administer the plan. See 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(5). Although states must comply with the federal requirements, they retain broad discretion in determining



which medical services will be covered under their plans. However, to qualify for federal funds the state plan must include the seven mandatory medical services referenced at 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(10)(A), which include inpatient hospital services, various outpatient hospital services, laboratory and X-ray services, specified nursing facility services, early and periodic screening, diagnostic, and treatment services for eligible individuals under 21, (42 U.S.C. § 1396d(r)) various physician services, nurse-midwife services, and services of certified pediatric or family nurse practitioners. 42 U.S.C. § 1396d(a)(4)(B).

Utah is a participating Medicaid state having opted to participate by adopting the Medical Assistance Act in 1981. See Utah Code Ann. §§ 26-18-1 to -11 (1995 and Supp. 1997). Having opted into the federally created medical assistance program, Utah assumes complete administration of its program. Utah designated the Division of Health Care Financing as the single administrative agency for the state. As the designated agency, the Division is responsible for administering the Medicaid program in accordance with federal and state law. The Utah legislature granted the Division broad authority to develop standards and to develop and administer policies in implementing the state's plan. Utah Code Ann. §§ 26-18-3(2), -4(1) (1995). Utah has complied with federal requirements by creating a state

Medicaid plan which has received approval by the Secretary of Health and Human Services. Utah Admin. Code R414-1-4.

**A. A state's medical assistance plan must be consistent with the objectives of Title XIX; the plan must employ reasonable standards for determining eligibility for and extent of medical assistance.**

Title XIX's overarching objective is to enable participating states, "as far as practicable, to furnish medical assistance to individuals whose income and resources are insufficient to meet the costs of necessary medical services." *Beal v. Doe*, 97 S.Ct. 2366, 2371, 432 U.S. 438 (1977). Title XIX does not specify particular medical procedures to be provided; although participating states must provide financial assistance for five (the Medicaid statute now mandates seven categories) broad categories of medical treatment, states are not required to fund every medical procedure falling within the general categories.

Indeed, the statute expressly provides: "A State plan for medical assistance must . . . include reasonable standards . . . for determining eligibility for and the extent of medical assistance under the plan which . . . are consistent with the objectives of this [Title]. . . ." 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(17) (1970 ed., Supp. V).

*Beal v. Doe*, 97 S.Ct. at 2370-71; *A.M.L. v. Department of Health*, 863 P.2d 44, 47 (Utah App. 1993).

To retain the integrity of the program, each participating state must submit and receive approval for its state plan. However, receiving approval does not mean the state plan is minutely managed by federal oversight. In fact, the *Beal* Court

goes on to state, "[t]his language confers broad discretion on the States to adopt standards for determining the extent of medical assistance, requiring only that such standards be 'reasonable' and 'consistent with the objectives' of the Act." *Beal*, 97 S.Ct. at 2371.

**B. Utah's standards of eligibility and coverage are reasonable and in conformance with the objectives of the Act.**

In conformance with Title XIX and by the authority granted under § 26-18-3(2), Utah Code Ann. (1995), Utah's designated Medicaid office has established standards enabling the Division to administer its Medicaid program. The specific standards applicable to this case provide in pertinent part:

R414-1A-300. Policy.

(1) Experimental or unproven medical practices are not covered Medicaid services.

(2) Division staff and physician consultants shall establish criteria to determine whether a service or procedure is a covered Medicaid service.

(3) Procedures or services proven to be medically efficacious for specific medical conditions may be provided as covered Medicaid services only for the conditions specified. Such procedures or services are not covered for any other conditions or for experimental trials. . . .

The issue before this court concerns DHCF's denial of Medicaid coverage for an experimental use of a drug. The policy excludes experimental or unproven medical practices; it does not exclude procedures or services proven to be medically efficacious. Furthermore, the criteria applied to a given situation is the result of the combined efforts of Division staff and physician

consultants. This is an important issue on which the agency should be permitted broad discretion to fashion rules which promote the objectives of the Medicaid program. Medicaid was not created to promote research for new treatments. In fact, using the population of Medicaid-covered individuals as a potential pool of research subjects would raise public policy and ethics concerns. This population of persons is already vulnerable because of lack of sufficient personal funds to obtain needed medical services. While the concept of public funding of medical research is not a foreign or repugnant one, it would be unacceptable to combine the dual purpose of needed medical treatment and experimental medical treatment within the single program of Medicaid. The Medicaid program is not a research program.

In addition to the rule establishing the Medicaid payment policy for experimental or unproven medical practices, the agency has by rule defined certain terms which govern the agency in its assessment of the set of facts applicable to the particular individual. The definitions established by rule provide in pertinent part:

R414-1A-200. Definitions.

(1) Terms used in this rule [R414-1A. Medicaid Policy for Experimental or Unproven Medical Practices.] are defined in R414-1-1.

(2) In addition:

(a) "experimental or unproven medical practice" means any procedure, medication product, or service that is:

- (i) not proven to be medically efficacious for a given procedure; or
  - (ii) performed for or in support of purposes of research, experimentation, or testing of new processes or products; or
  - (iii) both;
- (b) "medically efficacious" means a medical practice that:
- (i) has been determined effective and is widely utilized as a standard medical practice for specific conditions; and
  - (ii) has been approved as a covered Medicaid service by division staff and physician consultants on the basis of medical necessity, as defined in R414-13x-1.(5)(a),. . . .

When determining the application of "experimental medical practice" to the facts of the case, the question of "medical necessity" may arise because of the specific circumstances. A service is "medically necessary" if it is:

- (1) reasonably calculated to prevent, diagnose, or cure conditions in the recipient that endanger life, cause suffering or pain, cause physical deformity or malfunction or threaten to cause a handicap; and
- (2) there is no other equally effective course of treatment available or suitable for the recipient . . . which is more conservative or substantially less costly.

Utah Admin. Code R414-13x-1.(5)(a).

Under both the Medicaid Act and Utah law, the Division has been granted discretion to establish and implement a program designed to furnish medical assistance within the scope and intent of the law. The Division has designed a program to meet those objectives. Nothing in federal or state law prevents the state from denying coverage for medical practices or services which do not satisfy reasonable criteria designed to achieve the

program's objectives. As the *Beal* Court noted, "[a]lthough serious statutory questions might be presented if a state Medicaid plan excluded necessary medical treatment from its coverage, it is hardly inconsistent with the objectives of the Act for a State to refuse to fund unnecessary---though perhaps desirable---medical services." *Beal*, 97 S.Ct. at 2371. The terminology of "unnecessary" is not precisely the correct question in the instant case. Rather, the reference to the quote in *Beal* helps clarify the determination in this case. The agency's decision denied the request because the proposed use was experimental. The medical procedure is unproven; and without a certain quantum of reliable authority establishing a procedure's safety and effectiveness, the agency is justified in exercising its discretion not to fund a questionable medical service.

**POINT II:**

**UTAH'S STANDARD GOVERNING EXPERIMENTAL  
MEDICAL PRACTICES IS REASONABLE AND AS  
APPLIED TO THE FACTS OF THE CASE WAS A  
REASONABLE EXERCISE OF AGENCY DISCRETION.**

The rule applied in this case denied Medicaid coverage for an experimental use of growth hormone to treat short bowel syndrome. In essence, if the practice or service is determined experimental, then it has not been proven medically efficacious for that purpose. In *Rush v. Parham*, 625 F.2d 1150, 1156 (5th Cir. 1980), that court had occasion to consider the question

presented when applying the standard of experimental within the definition of medically necessary services. The case concerned a request for transsexual surgery and presented that court with the problem of whether the Georgia Medicaid program's definition of medically necessary services could exclude experimental treatments. The court concluded that it was a valid exercise of the agency's discretion to exclude experimental treatments. Its support was found in a letter Medicare<sup>3</sup> uses to explain why certain services are ineligible for reimbursement. The supportive information contained in the opinion at footnote 11 states:

The clearest articulation of the considerations that go into determining whether a particular service is experimental is found in a letter Medicare uses to explain to its clients and providers why a service is ineligible for reimbursement:

In making such a decision [whether to provide payment for a particular service], a basic consideration is whether the service has come to be generally accepted by the professional medical community as an effective and proven treatment for the condition for which it is being used. If it is, Medicare may make payment. On the other hand, if the service or treatment is not yet generally accepted, is rarely used, novel or relatively unknown, then authoritative evidence must be obtained that it is safe and effective before Medicaid may make payment. Enclosure # 2 to Intermediary Letters Nos. 77-4 & 77-5,

---

<sup>3</sup>The Medicare program, which is administered directly by the federal government on a nationwide basis, shares similarities with the Medicaid program, including the relationship between the private physician and the federal government wherein the physician's judgment plays a central role yet the physician must operate within the reasonable limits established by the state.

[1976 Transfer Binder] Medicare & Medicaid Guide (CCH)  
¶ 28,152 (1976).

*Rush v. Parnam*, 625 F.2d at 1156 n. 11.

Following *Rush*, the question of experimental treatment has been considered in a variety of settings, not all of which actually turn on the application of that standard to the facts of the case. A number of cases cited by Appellant as having followed *Rush*'s lead on this point are, in fact, distinguishable.

In *Weaver v. Reagan*, 886 F.2d 194 (8th Cir. 1989), a class of Medicaid-eligible individuals were denied coverage for AZT to treat their AIDS. The Missouri Department of Social Services defended their action claiming the coverage was limited to only those patients whose condition met the FDA labeling statement and, secondarily, any use outside the labeling statement was *per se* experimental. Not only did an FDA bulletin refute the Department's position with respect to the controlling nature of the labeling statement, but the *Weaver* court applying the *Rush* definition found the use of AZT beyond the labeled uses was not experimental inasmuch as it was commonly prescribed for the use requested by plaintiffs and was generally accepted in the medical community as an effective treatment. In sum, Missouri's action was arbitrary since the rule created an irrebuttable presumption. Such is not the case with Utah's standard which takes into consideration factors such as acceptance in the medical community as an efficacious treatment.



In *Montoya v. Johnston*, 654 F.Supp. 511 (W.D.Tex. 1987), the Texas Department of Human Services placed a cap of \$50,000 on the amount Medicaid would pay for inpatient hospital services during any 12-month period. This effectively precluded the liver transplants, costing approximately \$200,000, sought by two young children otherwise eligible for Medicaid. In support of the request, the children's physicians submitted affidavits stating that liver transplants were not considered experimental. Additionally, the court found the Texas Medicaid cap was arbitrary and unreasonable. The cap was contrary to Medicaid regulations which prohibit restrictions which "arbitrarily deny or reduce the amount, duration or scope of a required service . . . to an otherwise eligible recipient solely because of the diagnosis, type of illness or condition." *Montoya v. Johnston*, 654 F.Supp. at 513. While the *Montoya* court cited to *Rush* and the definition of experimental treatment, the facts of *Montoya* distinguish it from the instant case. Appellant Markelle did not come up against an arbitrary cap or restriction nor did the evidence submitted state unequivocally the procedure was not experimental. Rather, the contrary situation exists in that there is no unequivocal statement that the use of growth hormone for the use requested is not experimental.

In *Miller by Miller v. Whitburn*, 10 F.3d 1315 (7th Cir. 1993), the issue of experimental is framed in a somewhat

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